1999

# West Valley City v. Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTION**

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Section 78-2-2(4) of the Utah Code.

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

1. Whether West Valley City's failure to maintain a record is a due process violation which has deprived Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., of their right for judicial review of the Administrative Code Enforcement Order entered in this matter. This matter is analogous to an appeal from a grant of summary judgment or other ruling on a question of law. As such, the Third District Court's Ruling should be reviewed for correctness. *West v. Thomson Newspapers*, 872 P. 2d 999 (Utah 1994).

2. Whether the Third District Court's failure to rule on the Petition to Review Administrative Hearing Officer's Decision, to grant Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc.'s Request for a Hearing *De Novo*, or to remand the matter for another Administrative Hearing, is a due process violation which has deprived Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., of their right for judicial review of the Administrative Code Enforcement Order entered in this matter. This matter is analogous to an appeal from a grant of summary judgment or other ruling on a question of law. As such, the Third District Court's Ruling should be reviewed for correctness. *West v. Thomson Newspapers*, 872 P. 2d 999 (Utah 1994).



3. Whether West Valley City should be required to bear the costs incurred by Appellants if this matter is remanded for a second Administrative Hearing, insofar as West Valley City failed to maintain a record of the first proceeding which deprived Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing Inc., of their right to judicial review of the Administrative Code Enforcement Order entered in this matter. This matter is analogous to an appeal from a grant of summary judgment or other ruling on a question of law. As such, the Third District Court's Ruling should be reviewed for correctness. *West v. Thomson Newspapers*, 872 P. 2d 999 (Utah 1994).

**DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS,**  
**STATUTES, ORDINANCES, AND RULES**

**The Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution:** No person shall be held to answer for a capital, or otherwise infamous crime, unless on a presentment or indictment of a Grand Jury, except in cases arising in the land or naval forces, or in the Militia, when in actual service in time of War or public danger; nor shall any person be subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb; nor shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself, nor be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation.

**Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, Section 1:** All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdictions thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any

law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States: nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law: nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

**Article I, Section 7 of the Utah Constitution:** No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

**Sections 10-2-601(1) and (3) of the West Valley City Municipal Code:** (1) any person adversely affected by any decision made in the exercise of the provisions of this Chapter may file a petition for review of the decision or order with the District Court within thirty days after the decision is rendered. (3) The Court's shall: (a) Presume that the Administrative Code Enforcement Hearing Officer's decision and orders are valid; and (b) Review the record to determine whether or not the decision was arbitrary, capricious, or illegal.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**Nature of the Case:** This appeal is from the Third District Court, State of Utah, Salt Lake County, West Valley Department. Specifically, the appeal is from a Ruling by the Honorable Ann Boyden, dated March 17, 1999.

**Course of Proceedings:** On December 8, 1998, West Valley City issued a Notice of Violation to Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., claiming that the roofing repair work performed at a residence located at 3970 South 2665 West, West Valley City, Utah, failed to conform to the Uniform Building Code in several respects. Greg Roberts and

Roberts Roofing, Inc., timely requested a hearing in accordance with the directions included with the Notice of Violation. On January 13, 1999, Phil Roberts, on behalf of West Valley City, conducted an informal Administrative Code Enforcement Hearing regarding the alleged Uniform Building Code violations pertaining to the roof installed by Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., at the property located at 3970 South 2665 West, West Valley City, Utah. On February 1, 1999, Administrative Hearing Officer Phil Roberts issued an Administrative Code Enforcement Order claiming that violations of the Uniform Building Code exist with respect to the subject roof, ordering that the property be brought into compliance by June 1, 1999, and ordering that if said property is not brought into compliance by said date, civil penalties will accrue. Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., as Petitioners, timely filed a Petition to Review Administrative Hearing Officer's Decision. Petitioners Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., then attempted to make arrangements to have the tapes which served as the record of the Administrative Code Enforcement transcribed and transmitted to the Third District Court in accordance with requirements set forth by West Valley City. Petitioners Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., were then informed by Candice Gleed, the Paralegal in charge of the Administrative Code Enforcement Hearing Program, that the tapes from the Administrative Code Enforcement Hearing are blank and that no record of the Hearing exists. Petitioners Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., then requested that the Third District Court schedule a Hearing *De Novo* because at that point, a Hearing *De Novo* was the only viable remedy

available to Petitioners. On March 17, 1999, the Third District Court, by and through the Honorable Ann Boyden, denied the request for *Hearing De Novo* because Section 10-2-601 of the West Valley Municipal Code restricts the Court's review to the record of the proceedings and there is no record of the proceedings. The Court also dismissed Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc.'s Petition for Review of Administrative Hearing Officer's Decision. Counsel for Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., then wrote to the West Valley City Attorney and requested that West Valley City either reschedule an Administrative Enforcement Hearing in order that a proper record could be made or that West Valley City rescind the Administrative Enforcement Order. Counsel for Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., never received any response to this correspondence.

**Disposition at Trial Court:** The Third District Court, by and through the Honorable Ann Boyden, denied Petitioners Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc.'s request for *Hearing De Novo* and dismissed their Petition for Review of Administrative Hearing Officer's Decision.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. On December 8, 1998, West Valley City issued a Notice of Violation to Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., claiming that the roofing repair work performed at a residence located at 3970 South 2665 West, West Valley City, Utah, failed to conform to the Uniform Building Code in several respects. (Addendum - Exhibit "A")

2. Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., timely requested a hearing in

accordance with the directions included with the Notice of Violation. (Addendum - Exhibit "B")

3. West Valley City issued a Notice of Hearing on December 23, 1998, setting the hearing for Monday, January 4, 1999, at 6:00 p.m. (Addendum - Exhibit "C")

4. West Valley City issued a second Notice of Hearing on January 5, 1999, changing the date and time of the hearing to Wednesday, January 13, 1999, at 5:30 p.m. (Addendum - Exhibit "D")

5. On January 13, 1999, Phil Roberts, on behalf of West Valley City, conducted an informal Administrative Code Enforcement Hearing regarding the alleged Uniform Building Code violations pertaining to the roof system installed by Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., at the property located at 3970 South 2665 West, West Valley City, Utah.

6. West Valley City had responsibility for maintaining a record of the Administrative Code Enforcement Hearing.

7. On February 1, 1999, the Administrative Hearing Officer, Phil Roberts, issued an Administrative Code Enforcement Order claiming that violations of the Uniform Building Code exist with respect to the subject roof, ordering that the property be brought into compliance by June 1, 1999, and ordering that if said property is not brought into compliance by said date, civil penalties will accrue. (Addendum - Exhibit "E")

8. Pursuant to Section 10-2-601, West Valley City Municipal Code, Greg Roberts

and Roberts Roofing Inc., as Petitioners, timely filed a Petition to Review Administrative Hearing Officer's Decision. The Petition, filed in the Third District Court in and for Salt Lake County, West Valley Department, alleges that the decision of the Administrative Hearing Officer was arbitrary, capricious, or illegal, because the procedures employed by and the actions taken by West Valley City and the Administrative Hearing Officer violated the due process clauses of the Fifth and Fourteen Amendments of the United States Constitution and the due process clause of the Utah Constitution as set forth in Article I, Section 7, and that the decision rendered by the Administrative Hearing Officer was legally and factually incorrect. Petitioners sought oral argument. (Court Record - Page 1)

9. Respondent West Valley City filed an Answer to Petition for Review which indicated that a record, including a recording of the hearing, exists and that Petitioners were responsible for preparing a transcript and transmitting a copy of the transcript to the Court for use in the review of the matter. (Court Record - Page 6)

10. Counsel for Petitioners Greg Robert and Roberts Roofing, Inc., then attempted to make arrangements to have the tapes which served as the record of the Administrative Code Enforcement Hearing transcribed and transmitted to the Third District Court in accordance with requirements set forth by West Valley City. An Affidavit summarizing this situation was filed with the Third Judicial District Court by Bret M. Hanna, counsel for Petitioners Greg Robert and Roberts Roofing, Inc. (Court Record - Page 10)

11. Petitioners Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing Inc., were then informed by

Candice Gleed, the Paralegal in charge of the Administrative Code Enforcement Hearing Program, that the tapes from the Administrative Code Enforcement Hearing are blank and that no record of the Hearing exists. An Affidavit summarizing this situation was filed with the Third District Court by Bret M. Hanna, counsel for Petitioners Greg Robert and Roberts Roofing, Inc. (Court Record - Page 10)

12. On March 2, 1999, Petitioners Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing Inc., requested that the Third District Court schedule a Hearing *De Novo* because at that point, a Hearing *De Novo* was the only viable remedy or appeal available to Petitioner. (Court Record - Page 15)

13. On March 17, 1999, the Third District Court, by and through the Honorable Ann Boyden, denied the Request for Hearing *De Novo* because Section 10-2-601 of the West Valley City Municipal Code restricts the court's review to the record of the proceedings and there is no record of the proceedings. The Court also dismissed Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing Inc.'s Petition for Review of Administrative Hearing Officer's Decision. (Court Record - 20)

14. On March 29, 1999, counsel for Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing Inc., wrote to the West Valley City Attorney and requested that West Valley City either reschedule an Administrative Enforcement Hearing in order that a proper record can be made or that West Valley City rescind the Administrative Code Enforcement Order. Counsel for Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing never received any response to this correspondence. (Addendum -

Exhibit “F”)

15. On April 15, 1999, Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc. timely filed their Notice of Appeal. (Court Record - 31)

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The procedures employed by and the actions taken by West Valley City and the Third District Court violate the due process clauses of the Fifth and Fourteen Amendments of the United States Constitution and the due process clause of the Utah Constitution as set forth in Article I, Section 7. These due process violations have deprived appellants of any meaningful appeal or review of the Administrative Code Enforcement Order and the actions taken will deprive appellants of property without due process. This situation has developed despite the protections of the United States Constitution, the Utah Constitution and provisions of the West Valley City Municipal Code.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. WEST VALLEY CITY’S FAILURE TO MAINTAIN A RECORD IS A DUE PROCESS VIOLATION WHICH DEPRIVED GREG ROBERTS AND ROBERTS ROOFING INC., OF THEIR RIGHT TO JUDICIAL REVIEW OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE CODE ENFORCEMENT ORDER.**

The facts of this matter are uncomplicated and clearly demonstrate that appellants have been denied any meaningful consideration of their rights in this matter and have been denied any review of the actions taken by West Valley City. The result has been a deprivation of appellants’ property rights without due process.



The history is simple: West Valley City issued a Notice of Violation claiming that the roof repairs performed by Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., resulted in seven violations of the Uniform Building Code. Each of the seven alleged violations carry with it a civil fine of \$25.00 per day. The Notice of Violation indicated that Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc. had two options: (1) remove the existing roof covering, cricket the roof, re-flash the roof, and install a new built-up roof covering in compliance with the Uniform Building Code, or (2) file a written request for hearing within ten days of the Notice of Violation. In light of the fact that Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., contested the fact that the repairs to the subject roof resulted in any Uniform Building Code violations and in light of the fact that the demanded roof retrofit would be very expensive and would cause a severe financial hardship for Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., exercised option number 2 and filed a written request for the hearing on the alleged Uniform Building Code violations.

Mr. Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., retained counsel and participated in the Administrative Code Enforcement Hearing. The hearing took in excess of five hours and between preparation and participation time, cost Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc. a considerable amount of money in attorneys' fees and related expenses. Because of the pre-hearing interaction between Mr. Roberts and the West Valley City Chief Building Official, and because of the events which transpired during the course of the hearing, Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., decided to appeal the Administrative Code Enforcement Order

which dictated that the Uniform Building Code violations existed, that the property had to be in compliance with the Uniform Building Code on or before June 1, 1999, or that Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc. would be responsible for civil penalties or \$25.00 per day per violation beginning January 20, 1999, until a Notice of Compliance is issued by the city. The Order also assessed Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., an administrative fee of \$95.00 for exercising his right to have a hearing on the alleged violations. Finally, the Order dictates that Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc. are responsible for paying consulting fees incurred by Innovative Roofing Consultants because its principal, Kraig Klossen, was ordered by the Administrative Hearing Officer to oversee the repair work performed by Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc. at the subject home.

The appeal of the Administrative Code Enforcement Order was taken in accordance with Section 10-2-601 of the West Valley City Municipal Code, which dictates that appeals must be taken within thirty days and that appeals are limited to a review of the record to determine whether or not the decision was arbitrary, capricious, or illegal. The Petition filed by Greg Robert and Roberts Roofing, Inc., specified the basis for the appeal that the Administrative Code Enforcement Order was based upon determinations that were arbitrary, capricious, and illegal. Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., then attempted to make arrangements to have the record, which West Valley City assumed responsibility for

maintaining,<sup>1</sup> transcribed and transmitted to the Third District Court in accordance with requirements set forth by West Valley City. Upon learning that no record of the Administrative Code Enforcement Hearing was kept by West Valley City, Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., filed a request for a Hearing *De Novo* in order to avoid having to go to the time and expense of repeating the Administrative Code Enforcement Hearing process.

The Third District Court, by and through the Honorable Ann Boyden, however, dismissed the Petition for Appellant Review because there is no record of the Administrative Code Enforcement Hearing and dismissed the Request for Hearing *De Novo* because there is no record and the Court's review is limited to a review of the record by the West Valley City Municipal Code. Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., then determined that they had no option other than to request that West Valley City conduct another Administrative Code Enforcement Hearing. This request, in the form of correspondence directed to the West Valley City attorney, was not even met with the courtesy of a response.

Thus, as it stands, Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., face the cost of replacing the roof system, paying fines of \$175.00 a day (retroactive to January 20, 1999,) because the June 1, 1999, repair deadline was not met, plus the administrative fee and the consulting fees. The repair costs, fines and fees amount to thousands of dollars. This is a significant deprivation of appellant's property without due process in violation of the Fifth and

---

<sup>1</sup>In footnote 1 of the Memorandum in Opposition to Petitioner's Request for Hearing *De Novo*, West Valley City admits that the tapes of the hearing are blank and that they do not know why the recorder failed to capture the hearing.

Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution, the due process clause of the Utah Constitution, and the West Valley City Municipal Code.

**II. THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT'S FAILURE TO RULE ON THE PETITION TO REVIEW ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING OFFICER'S DECISION, TO GRANT GREG ROBERTS AND ROBERT'S ROOFING INC.'S REQUEST FOR A HEARING *DE NOVO*, OR TO REMAND THE MATTER FOR ANOTHER ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING, IS A DUE PROCESS VIOLATION WHICH DEPRIVED GREG ROBERTS AND ROBERT'S ROOFING INC., OF THEIR RIGHT TO JUDICIAL REVIEW OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE CODE ENFORCEMENT ORDER.**

The Third District Court's failure to affect any review or make any determination of the appropriateness of the Administrative Code Enforcement Order, or to remand the matter for an another hearing, was also a due process violation. In this regard, appellants could do no more to protect their rights and get a full and fair determination of the appropriateness of the Administrative Code Enforcement Order. The property taken without due process is as described above.

With respect to the ruling of the Third District Court, this case can by analogized to a case recently decided by the Utah Supreme Court. In *Springville Citizens for a Better Community v. The City of Springville*, 365 Utah Adv. Rep. 23 (Utah 1999) (Addendum - Exhibit "G"), citizens of Springville filed suit against the city challenging the City Council's approval of a planned unit development. The citizens alleged that the city's approval of the planned unit development was arbitrary, capricious, and illegal because the city failed to

follow its own ordinances, which under the city's code, are mandatory. The citizens also alleged violations of state statutory requirements and state and federal constitutions. The city moved for summary judgment and the District Court granted it, holding that the city had substantially complied with the ordinances governing approval for the planned unit development.

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