1999

West Valley City v. Greg Roberts and Roberts Roofing, Inc., : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

A *de novo* hearing is not required in this matter, because an adequate record exists. Even though the hearing was not successfully recorded, the existing record adequately supports the Hearing Officer's decision, and so that decision should be upheld. Even if the Court finds that the record is insufficient, the proper approach would be to supplement the existing record, not to begin again with a new hearing. *Xanthos v. Salt Lake City Board of Adjustment*, 685 P.2d 1032, 1034-35 (Utah 1984).

III Roberts Is Not Entitled to Costs, Because the Issue Is Not Ripe for Decision, and Also Because There Is No Statutory Basis for Such an Award.

Roberts's preemptive demand for costs is not ripe. The demand is for costs "if this matter is remanded for a second administrative hearing." This issues was not raised before the trial court, and is not ripe for judicial review. Furthermore, a claim for costs must be based on a statute or contractual provision. *State ex rel. Department of Social Services v. Ruschetta*, 742 P.2d 114, 117 (Utah Ct. App. 1987). Roberts has cited to no law or contract provision which would award costs.

DETAIL OF THE ARGUMENT

I. ROBERTS'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WERE PRESERVED, BECAUSE THE CITY ACTED WITHIN ITS AUTHORITY, AND FOLLOWED ITS PROCEDURAL RULES.

Because the City acted within its authority and followed its procedural rules, Roberts's due process rights were not abridged. Due process in an administrative hearing requires fundamental fairness, an opportunity to present evidence and legal argument, and the right for judicial review. Roberts appeared at a hearing held at his request, was given the opportunity to present his case, and has sought judicial review. The City followed its procedural rules and acted within its authority. There was no due process violation, even though the hearing was not successfully recorded.

A. *The City Acted Within its Authority to Enforce Obedience to the Uniform Building Code Using an Administrative Process.*

There was no due process violation, because the City acted within its authority to enforce obedience to its ordinances, and penalize violations. Cities are authorized to enact ordinances and rules, and to take reasonable steps to enforce those ordinances by fines or other penalties.

[Municipalities] may pass all ordinances and rules, and make all regulations, not repugnant to law, *necessary for carrying into effect or discharging all powers and duties conferred by this chapter* [Chapter 10-8], and as are necessary and proper to provide for the safety and preserve the health, and promote the prosperity, improve the morals, peace and good order, comfort, and convenience of the city and its inhabitants, and for the protection of property in the city; *and may enforce obedience to the ordinances with fines or penalties as they may deem proper . . .*

UTAH CODE ANN. § 10-8-84 (1996) (emphasis added). This grant of authority includes establishment of an administrative procedure to enforce city ordinances. Furthermore,

[w]hen the State has granted general welfare power to local governments, those governments have independent authority apart from, and in addition to, specific grants of authority to pass ordinances which are reasonably and appropriately related to the objectives of that power, *i.e.*, providing for the public safety, health, morals, and welfare. . . . And the courts will not interfere with the legislative choice of the means selected unless it is arbitrary, or is directly prohibited by, or is inconsistent with the policy of, the state or federal laws . . .

State v. Hutchinson, 624 P.2d 1116, 1124 (Utah 1980). In § 10-8-84 of the Utah Code, the Utah Legislature granted general welfare power to cities. Therefore, cities have authority to

pass ordinances reasonably related to the objectives of that power. An administrative hearing procedure to enforce city ordinances is reasonably and appropriately related to the objectives of the general welfare power.¹

In addition to general welfare authority, cities are also authorized to enforce uniform building standards. *See* UTAH CODE ANN. § 58-56-8 (1998).² "[S]pecific grants should generally be construed with reasonable latitude in light of the broad language of the general welfare clause which may supplement the power found in a specific delegation." *Hutchinson*, 624 P.2d at 1126. The general welfare authority discussed above supplements the specific delegation of authority to enforce uniform building standards. A city has authority to enact ordinances reasonably and appropriately related to carrying out and enforcing the Uniform Building Code.

To sum up, the City has specific authority to regulate building construction and repair, consistent with the Uniform Building Code. That authority, coupled with the general welfare power granted by the Utah Legislature, permits the City to enact ordinances and rules

¹ *See e.g., Whiting v. Clayton*, 617 P.2d 362 (Utah 1980); and *Buhler v. Stone*, 533 P.2d 292 (Utah 1975), in which the Utah Supreme Court approved the use of administrative hearing procedures to enforce local ordinances.

² *See also* UTAH CODE ANN. § 10-9-102 (1996) (authorizing cities to regulate structures and buildings.) The City has adopted the Uniform Building Code as part of its ordinances.

necessary to carry out that authority. Enforcing the Uniform Building Code via an administrative hearing process is reasonably and appropriately related to the City's duty to enforce building standards. The City thus acted within its authority to use an administrative hearing process to determine whether Roberts violated the Uniform Building Code, and doing so did not violate Roberts's due process rights.

B. Roberts's Due Process Rights were Preserved, Because the City Followed the Procedures Established in its Ordinances.

Roberts suffered no deprivation of due process rights, because the City followed the procedures outlined in its Municipal Code. "Every person who brings a claim in a court or at a hearing held before an administrative agency has a due process right to receive a fair trial in front of a fair tribunal." *Tolman v. Salt Lake County Attorney*, 818 P.2d 23, 28 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). The Utah Supreme Court explained that due process of law includes "an opportunity to present [one's] cause, that is [one's] evidence and [one's] contentions, to a tribunal vested with authority to make a determination thereon. Further, . . . [That person] should have a right of access to the courts to review and test the validity of his contention." *Peatross v. Board of Commissioners of Salt Lake County*, 555 P.2d 281, 283 (Utah 1976).

The existing record shows that Roberts was given a fair trial in front of a fair tribunal, was allowed to present evidence, and has had access to the courts for review. Pursuant to Title 10 of the City Code, Roberts was notified of the alleged violations, how those violations

should be corrected, and was informed that a hearing could be requested. (*See* Exhibit B.) Roberts requested a hearing, which was held before an independent administrative hearing officer.³ Roberts was represented by counsel and was allowed to present his own evidence as well as dispute the evidence submitted by the City, including cross-examination of the City's witnesses. Roberts has obviously taken advantage of his right to appeal the Hearing Officer's decision. This shows that Roberts has not suffered any deprivation of his due process rights.

Roberts contends that the failure to successfully record the hearing constitutes a due process violation requiring a trial *de novo*. However, "due process demands a new trial when the appearance of unfairness is so plain that we are left with the abiding impression that a reasonable person would find the hearing unfair." *Tolman*, 818 P.2d at 28. A failure to maintain a record because of an unknown equipment malfunction does not rise to the level of unfairness that requires a new hearing.⁴

There are two appellate cases which provide valuable guidance in this situation. In

³ Administrative hearing officers are not employees of the City.

⁴ Roberts mistakenly relies on *Springville Citizens for a Better Community v. Springville*, 365 Utah Adv. Rep 23 (Utah 1999). In that case, the court overturned a zoning approval because the city failed to follow distinct procedural requirements found in its ordinances. In this matter, the City followed its ordinances, including the recording requirement. The City had no way of knowing that the recording equipment was not operating properly.

Tolman, the Court of Appeals determined that the recording of the hearing at issue was so incomplete that the court could not confidently review the hearing. *Tolman*, 818 P.2d at 27, n.5. The recording was deemed incomplete because of faulty recording, and because the recording equipment was turned off while significant matters were discussed. *Id.* However, the court did not hold that the condition of the recording violated due process. Rather, the court would have remanded the matter to develop a reviewable record. *Id.*⁵ In other words, the lack of a complete record did not leave the abiding impression that a reasonable person would find as unfair.

In the second case, *Xanthos v. Board of Adjustment of Salt Lake City*, 685 P.2d 1032 (Utah 1984), there was no recording of the administrative hearing at all. The Utah Supreme Court addressed the argument that due process required a trial *de novo* to create a record. The court held that the reviewing court could take evidence to clarify the administrative hearing, "but it must be relevant to the issues that were raised and considered [in the administrative hearing]" *Xanthos*, 685 P.2d at 1035. In *Tolman*, discussed above, the Court of Appeals cited *Xanthos* to support the proposition that "development of a reviewable record" was the proper remedy when the record is too incomplete to review. *See Tolman*,

⁵ In *Tolman*, the court found other unfair due process violations based on the procedures used at the hearing. *Tolman*, 818 P.2d at 27-33. The condition of the record was not a due process violation.

818 P.2d at 27-28, n.5

Thus, there was no due process violation because the hearing was not successfully recorded. The City attempted to record the hearing in compliance with its ordinances, but for some reason the equipment did not work properly. Had the problem been known the City could have corrected it. However, the absence of the recording does not mean the absence of a record. As has been stated, documentary evidence was submitted which supports the Hearing Officer's decision. An incomplete record does not amount to a due process violation which requires a new hearing.

To conclude, Roberts suffered no due process violation. The City acted within its statutory authority to enforce the Uniform Building Code. The City may choose to enforce its ordinances and codes using an administrative hearing process. Roberts was afforded due process by being given a hearing, and judicial review. The City followed its procedures, including an attempt to record the hearing. The recording equipment malfunctioned, however, but that does not rise to the level of a due process violation.

II A TRIAL *DE NOVO* IS NOT NECESSARY BECAUSE THERE IS A SUFFICIENT RECORD OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE HEARING.

The trial judge did not violate Roberts's due process rights by denying the Request for Hearing *De Novo*. Trial *de novo* is not the proper remedy for this situation, even though the record is incomplete. Furthermore, a trial *de novo* is not necessary in this matter because

a sufficient record of the administrative hearing exists to sustain the hearing officer's decision. Finally, the existing record could be clarified with additional evidence if deemed necessary.

A. A Record of the Proceeding Exists, Even Though the Hearing was Not Successfully Recorded.

An adequate record of the proceedings exists in the form of documents presented at the hearing. This evidence adequately support the Hearing Officer's decision that the alleged violations did occur, and that Roberts is the responsible party. Although the tape recorder failed to operate correctly, the record consists of more than the audio recording of the hearing. The Hearing Officer also accepted documentary evidence tending to support the decision that the alleged violations occurred. This documentary evidence includes the contract between Roberts and Michelle Felis, the written report of the City's Chief Building Official, and another written report by an independent consultant who had inspected the roof. In addition, photographs taken by the City showing the alleged violations were introduced into evidence. This shows that a substantial portion of the record does exist, and that the decision may be reviewed based on that record. (*See Exhibits D and E*).

B. The Existing Record Adequately Shows that the Hearing Officer's Decision was Not Arbitrary or Capricious.

The existing written record provides a sufficient basis upon which the court can determine whether the Hearing Officer's decision was arbitrary or capricious. The Utah

Supreme Court explained the "arbitrary and capricious" standard in *Carlsen v. State ex rel. Department of Social Services*.⁶ When considering issues of fact, "[t]he [administrative] agency's finding will be sustained if there is evidence of any substance whatever which can reasonably be regarded as supporting the determination made. . . . Under this 'substantial evidence' standard, the agency's decision will be overturned only if it is so lacking in factual foundation that it is deemed to be arbitrary and capricious." *Carlsen*, 722 P.2d at 777 (citations omitted). The Hearing Officer's factual determinations must thus be upheld if there is any evidence of any substance which can reasonably be regarded as supporting the determination.

The documentary evidence supports the Hearing Officer's determination that the violations occurred. The City's Chief Building Official submitted a written report and photographs showing the violations on the roof. An independent consultant also submitted a written report finding that the violations occurred. The contract between Roberts and Michelle Felis confirmed that Roberts conducted the work and was the responsible party. This evidence reasonably supports the conclusions of the Hearing Officer that the violations existed, and that Roberts was responsible. Therefore, the decision was not arbitrary or capricious, and the decision should be upheld.

⁶ 722 P.2d 775 (Utah 1986).

C. *Even if the Record is Insufficient, the Proper Remedy is to Clarify the Existing Information with Supplemental Evidence.*

If the record is found too incomplete for a meaningful review, the proper approach is to clarify the existing record, rather than conduct a new trial. In *Xanthos*, the Utah Supreme Court addressed this very issue. *Xanthos* involved an appeal from the Salt Lake City Board of Adjustment. The hearing was not recorded, and on appeal to district court the trial judge conducted a trial *de novo* and considered evidence that had not been submitted to the board. *Xanthos*, 685 P.2d at 1035. The supreme court overturned the trial judge's decision and held that a trial *de novo* is not the proper remedy in such a situation. Rather, the judge should have supplemented the record that did exist, but only as necessary to clarify the decision. "This does not mean that the hearing in the district court should be a retrial on the merits, or that the district court can substitute its judgment for that of the [administrative agency]. . . [T]he district court may take additional evidence, but it must be relevant to the issues that were raised and considered by the [administrative agency]." ⁷ In other words, even though the record was incomplete because the hearing was not recorded, the proper approach would be to take only the information that is necessary to understand the Hearing Officer's decision.

Contrary to Roberts's contention, a partial record exists in this case. While the

⁷ *Xanthos* dealt with an appeal from a local Board of Adjustment, but the analysis regarding review applies generally to all administrative decisions. See *Tolman*, 818 P.2d at 27-28, n.5.

hearing was not recorded, there is the documentary evidence that the Hearing Officer considered. This information provides a foundation which could be supplemented with evidence relevant to understanding the Hearing Officer's decision. The individuals who testified at the hearing are available to clarify that documentary evidence if required. A trial *de novo* is not necessary, but taking supplementary evidence may be advisable.⁸

III ROBERTS IS NOT ENTITLED TO COSTS, BECAUSE THE ISSUE IS NOT RIPE FOR DECISION, AND ALSO BECAUSE THERE IS NO STATUTORY BASIS FOR SUCH AN AWARD.

Roberts is not entitled to a preemptive award of costs if there is another hearing. In the first place, such a request is not ripe for decision:

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